FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/25/2024 4:18 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/25/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1034989

No.

Court of Appeals No. 57160-9-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN WESTBROOK,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

Petition for Review

GREGORY C. LINK Attorney for the Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioner Brian Westbrook asks this Court to accept review of the opinion in *State v. Westbrook*, 57160-9-II.

B. Opinion Below

This case involves two close personal and professional friends. Peter Abbarno, an attorney, a State Representative for Lewis County, and Juror 11 in this case, was the presiding juror in this prosecution. He and Jonathan Meyer, the Lewis County Prosecutor, are both licensed lawyers and close friends.

Neither man disclosed the extent of their relationship, prior to, or during, voir dire in a Lewis County criminal case.

Neither disclosed the nature of their friendship during trial or during a hearing on a motion for new trial. Only after the appeal was filed, and after the Court of Appeals remanded the matter for an additional evidentiary hearing did the true nature of that friendship come to light.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals affirmed Mr.

Westbrook's conviction concluding he had not shown Mr.

Abbarno was actually or impliedly biased or that nondisclosure of the relationship prejudiced him.

C. Issues Presented

- 1. Mr. Westbrook was entitled to a trial by an impartial jury. He was denied his right to a fair trial in Lewis County when the presiding juror hid from the court he was friends with, and had previously been publicly endorsed more than once by the Prosecutor and where that juror invited that Prosecutor to be a guest on the presiding juror's radio program and expressed negative views about persons convicted of child molestation, the charge Mr. Westbrook faced.
- 2. The trial court deprived Mr. Westbrook a fair trial when it admitted evidence that Mr. Westbrook was arrested in California as "consciousness of guilt."

D. Statement of the Case

1. Representative Peter Abbarno, a friend of the prosecuting attorney, is seated on the jury and chosen as the presiding juror.

Mr. Abbarno, is a State Representative for Lewis County. Mr. Abbarno was Juror 11 in this case, and was the foreperson of the juror. CP 98. He and Jonathan Meyer, the Lewis County Prosecutor, are both licensed lawyers and close friends. Despite being asked during voir dire, in a Lewis County prosecution, about his relationship to the prosecutors, Mr. Abbarno chose to not disclose the existence or extent of his social and political relationship with Mr. Meyer. RP 23-24.

After trial, however, the trial judge learned something about their social relationship. Mr. Abbarno, Mr. Meyer and another man, bought and divided season tickets for the Seattle Kraken. She said:

Shortly [after the verdict], in a casual conversation with court administration . . . it was a casual conversation. I don't even really know how it came up. I think we were talking about sports and sporting events and season tickets and stuff like

that and she had made the Court aware that Mr. Abbamo and Mr. Meyer shared tickets. And that, in fact, Mr. Meyer had utilized tickets at the time of trial or at least during Mr. Abbamo's service as a juror or being on the panel as a prospective juror.

.... it occurred to me that could be an issue -- and trust me it was a really, really tough decision for me and it put me, kind of, in a really bad situation or a bad spot

RP 779-80.

Based on that information, information his attorney was unaware of, Mr. Westbrook filed a motion for a new trial. CP 97-100.

In response, Mr. Meyer and Mr. Abbamo filed affidavits admitting that prior to trial they shared tickets for Kraken games. CP 199. Mr. Meyer also stated he had been to Mr. Abbamo's home and they both attended "multiple functions" where dinner was served. *Id*.

Mr. Abbarno admitted he purchased season tickets to the Kraken with Mr. Meyer. He also provided records showing Mr.

Meyer and his wife made multiple donations to his campaigns. CP 204-206.

The Court voiced its dismay with Mr. Meyer's actions.

RP 809-10. But she ultimately concluded there was no implied bias and denied the motion. RP 810-12.

But there was more.

Even after the judge inquired about their relationship, neither Mr. Meyer nor Mr. Abbarno revealed its full extent. CP 275 (FOF 22).

Instead, after initial appellate counsel was appointed, she discovered Mr. Abbarno and Mr. Meyer had an extensive political relationship. The Court of Appeals granted counsel's request to remand for an evidentiary hearing. At that hearing Mr. Westbrook proved a far more extensive relationship between the two men.

Mr. Meyer endorsed Mr. Abbarno's campaigns for public office in 2015 and 2020 after Mr. Abbarno asked him to do so. 11/22/23 RP 10. This was long before the trial. In 2020, Mr.

Meyer filmed at least two endorsements for Mr. Abbarno's campaign.

In one advertisement, Mr. Meyer stands in front of a large Abbarno campaign sign at a podium with another Abbarno sign on it. 11/22/23 RP 16; CP 273 (FOF 6); Exhibit 3. Mr. Meyer says:

We are living in uncertain times, and need strong leadership in Olympia working for us. I'm Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney Jonathan Meyer, asking you to join me by supporting and electing Peter Abbarno as our state representative. Peter works tirelessly to improve our community, and will carry that work ethic to Olympia where we need him most. Learn more about how you can support and elect Peter Abbarno as our state representative at electpeterabbarno.com.

CP 274 (FOF 14); Ex. 3.

This advertisement remained on Mr. Abbarno's
Facebook page as late as November, 2022. Mr. Abbarno has
3,200 followers. 11/22/23 RP 16. Mr. Abbarno took advantage
of the endorsement on May 9, 2020, stating: "Lewis County
Prosecuting Attorney Jonathan Meyer endorses and supports

the Campaign to Elect Peter Abbarno. I look forward to representing the 20th Legislative District and working on solutions to important issues facing our community." CP 274 (FOF 15); Ex. 3.

In the second video, Mr. Meyer is pictured in front of an Abbarno yard sign and says:

"Hey guys, Jonathan Meyer, Lewis County Prosecutor. Just letting you know that I'm supporting Peter Abbamo because I want to keep the Twentieth District strong. I'm asking you to do the same." CP 274 (FOF 12); Ex. 3.

This video also remained on Mr. Abbarno's Facebook page until at least November 2022. And Mr. Abbarno responded on April 17, 2020: "Thank you Jonathan Meyer for your support of my campaign endorsement. Jonathan and I have supported each other for many years before he joined Lewis County Prosecutor's Office. *I appreciate his support and friendship*." CP 274 (FOF 13); Ex. 3.

Mr. Abbarno also hosted a weekly local radio show called. 11/22/23 RP 17. Mr. Abbarno could not remember how

many times he had Mr. Meyer on his show. On the available recordings, he introduced Mr. Meyer as a "good friend to the show" on at least two occasions. Exhibit 3. The recordings reveal a long relationship where Mr. Meyer filled in as a host "a lot." CP 273 (FOF 9). The two discussed criminal justice matters, such as Governor Inslee's decision to release inmates in response to the pandemic. CP 273 (FOF 10).

During one broadcast long before this trial, Mr. Meyer and Mr. Abbarno discussed the Governor's release of non-violent inmates. Mr. Meyer defined non-violent offenses to include child molestation in the third degree. Mr. Abbarno responded by stating "we're talking about non-violent. Do you want a child molester released? I mean that is a huge deal." CP 273-74 (FOF 10). During the same broadcast, Mr. Abbarno and Mr. Meyer opined the governor was "allowing inmates to dictate criminal justice reform" by authorizing their release. CP 274 (FOF 11).

A few weeks later, Mr. Meyer again appeared on Mr. Abbamo's radio program. The two took calls from members of the public and discussed Governor Inslee's release of prisoners in response to the pandemic. CP 274 (FOF 16); Ex. 3.

Over the years, Mr. Abbamo had collaborated on legislation with Mr. Meyer, including criminal justice matters. CP 274 (FOF 17).

Mr. Abbarno was aware the trial judge inquired about his relationship with Mr. Meyer when the issue of the hockey tickets arose. He signed the declaration drafted by the prosecutor's office and made no changes. CP 204-206. He did not disclose Mr. Meyer's endorsements or appearances on his radio show in that declaration. CP 275 (FOF 25). When asked why he did not reveal these details about his relationship with Mr. Meyer, Mr. Abbarno claimed he had "no recollection." CP 275 (FOF 23).

Despite Mr. Abbarno's lack of recall, Mr. Meyer filled in he had done more than merely endorse his friend. Mr. Meyer testified Mr. Abbarno asked him to appear on his programs in 2020. 11/22/23 RP 44. He emceed at Mr. Abbarno's campaign kick-off event in 2020. 11/22/23 RP 44. He introduced Mr. Abbarno to "different dignitaries or people of importance that were there, and I may have introduced Mr. Abbarno as well. I don't have any specific recollection." 11/22/23 RP 45.

Mr. Meyer filed a declaration about his relationship with Mr. Abbarno and hockey tickets in response to Mr. Westbrook's initial motion for new trial. Exhibit 5. He did not include any information regarding his appearances on Mr. Abbarno's radio show or his endorsements of Mr. Abbarno. 11/22/23 RP 50.

The trial judge concluded this Court's order on remand permitted her only to enter factual findings. 11/22/23 RP 1-10. She did not engage in any legal analysis about how her findings might affect the validity of Mr. Westbrooks convictions.

2. The court allows the State to introduce evidence of Mr. Westbrook's arrest in California.

Monica Cox reported allegations that Mr. Westbrook sexually assaulted one of her children. CP 6. Charges were filed a few weeks later and a warrant for Mr. Westbrook's arrest was issued the following week. CP. He was arrested in California and had a first appearance in Lewis County a month later.

The State offered evidence Mr. Westbrook was arrested in California because he "fled" Lewis County. 11/15/21 RP at 24. The defense objected noting there was no evidence about when Mr. Westbrook left Lewis County or why. *Id.* There was no evidence Mr. Westbrook knew a warrant for his arrest existed or police were looking for him. RP 11/15/21 RP 25.

Regardless, the judge permitted the evidence because:

[H]e was not where he was supposed to be, where everyone expected him to be, and he could not be found, he was eventually found somewhere else.

Id.

Thus, an officer testified he went to Mr. Westbrook's house, but he was not there. RP 552. He tried again "a handful of times." RP 552. Mr. Westbrook was arrested in California and police in Lewis County were notified. RP 554.

In closing, the prosecutor argued Mr. Westbrook's arrest in California was "consciousness of guilt." RP 754. Her argument was the jury could infer Mr. Westbrook went to California because he knew the police were looking for him and he knew he was guilty.

The jury convicted Mr. Westbrook.

E. Argument

1. Mr. Westbrook demonstrated he is entitled to a new trial based on Juror 11's professional relationship and personal friendship with the Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney.

Lawyers have a duty of candor to the Court. RPC 3.3.

Jurors are sworn to truthfully answer questions during voir dire.

Peter Abbarno, an attorney, legislator, and presiding juror in this case, and Jonathan Meyer, the Lewis County Prosecutor,

violated those principles. The Court of Appeals opinion endorsed this deceit when it denied Mr. Westbrook a new and fair trial. The court's conclusion demands review under RAP 13.4.

a. Mr. Westbrook was denied his right to a fair and impartial jury trial because Mr. Abbarno sat as a juror when he was actually or impliedly biased.

There are three kinds of bias challenges in Washington.

Only two are relevant here. A juror can be challenged for "implied bias." RCW 4.44.170(1). There are several ways to prove "implied bias." RCW 4.44.180. Only one is relevant here.

A juror is impliedly biased if he is: "Standing in the relation of guardian and ward, attorney and client, master and servant or landlord and tenant, to a party; or being a member of the family of, or a partner in business with, or in the employment for wages, of a party, or being surety or bail in the action called for trial, or otherwise, for a party." RCW 4.44.180(2)

And a juror can be challenged for actual bias. That is: "a state of mind on the part of the juror in reference to the action, or to either party, which satisfies the court that the challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging." RCW 4.44.170 (2).

The Sixth Amendment and article I, §section 22 of the Washington State Constitution guarantee a defendant the right to an impartial jury. *State v. Guevara Diaz*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 854-55, 456 P.3d 869 (2020). This right is violated by the seating of a biased juror, "whether the bias is actual or implied." *In re Yates*, 177 Wn. 2d 1, 30, 296 P.3d 872 (2013). Even if neither party challenges a juror, a trial court must dismiss a biased juror sua sponte. *Guevara Diaz*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 855. Seating a biased juror requires reversal in every instance, a defendant is entitled to a new trial without showing prejudice and an appellant may raise a juror bias claim for the first time on appeal. *Id.* at 851-52.

When there is strong evidence a juror began a case with bias but concealed that bias in jury selection, the trial court may grant a motion for new trial because "[t]he misconduct consists of his deception of the court and counsel as to his incompetence as an impartial juror." *Nelson v. Placanica*, 33 Wn. 2d 523, 528–29, 206 P.2d 296 (1949). Typically, to obtain a new trial for juror bias for undisclosed information in voir dire, a party must show (1) the juror intentionally failed to answer a material question and (2) a truthful disclosure would have provided a valid basis for a challenge for cause. *In re Pers. Restraint of Lord*, 123 Wn. 2d 296, 313, 868 P.2d 835 (1994).

But, a juror's failure to speak during voir dire regarding a material fact can amount to juror misconduct. *In re Detention of Broten*, 130 Wn. App. 326, 337, 122 P.3d 942 (2005). Mr. Abbarno was well aware during voir dire the court was trying to discern whether he knew the attorneys for the parties. Mr. Abbarno, an experienced attorney had to know he needed to disclose his personal relationship with Mr. Meyer. He did not.

Mr. Abbarno's claim at the subsequent evidentiary that he did not recall Mr. Meyer's endorsement is simply unbelievable. In addition, Mr. Meyer was aware Mr. Abbarno was seated on the jury but did not disclose his relationship with Mr. Abbarno to the court.

Once a portion of their relationship came to light, the trial court expressed extreme displeasure with the situation. But she refused to grant a new trial. Even though Mr. Abbarno and Mr. Meyer had a second chance to be honest, they again withheld information, not telling judge their relationship extended well beyond shared hockey tickets.

This evidence establishes Mr. Abbarno's intentional failure to answer both during voir dire and in his post-trial declaration.

b. Mr. Abbarno was impliedly biased because before this trial he was partners with Mr. Meyer in the business of getting elected.

Only in response to the motion for new trial did Mr.

Abbarno acknowledge Mr. Meyer had contributed money to his

campaign and that the two shared hockey tickets. That alone is arguably enough to find implied bias.

But Mr. Meyer and Mr. Abbarno continued to withhold that their social and political involvement went far beyond that. Mr. Meyer had actively campaigned for Mr. Abbarno. Mr. Meyer further assisted Mr. Abbarno's political efforts introducing him to "different dignitaries or people of importance." Mr. Abbarno understood and readily acknowledged the value of Mr. Meyer's endorsements on his Facebook page. Such a public endorsement was likely far more valuable in a small district than the monetary contributions Mr. Meyer made.

The undisputed evidence is Mr. Abbarno and Mr. Meyer were partners in the business of getting Mr. Abbarno elected and in discussing legislation and other governmental activities. They were also partners in broadcasting that information to the public and answering call-in questions.

This later-disclosed evidence demonstrates Mr.

Abbarno's statement he could decide this case fairly and impartially was untrue. He needed and valued Mr. Meyer's support. If he acquitted Mr. Westbrook, he would have jeopardized Mr. Meyer's support.

Mr. Abbarno's repeated failure to disclose the extent of his relationship even when that was the prime issue in the motion for new trial, is additional proof of Mr. Abbarno's inability to be impartial. As a lawyer who has tried cases, he would know that by revealing the full extent of his relationship with Mr. Meyer would have resulted in his removal from this case. And he knew that Mr. Meyer's support for him would be material to the trial judge's decision on the motion for new trial because he revealed Mr. Meyer's monetary donation to his campaign. But he concealed the arguably far greater contribution – Mr. Meyer's forceful endorsement of his campaign to the public and to other dignitaries and important people.

Mr. Abbarno did not reveal relevant facts to the judge because he wanted to be retained as a juror because of his relationship with Mr. Meyer.

c. Mr. Abbarno was actually biased because before this trial he publically stated that convicted child molesters should not be released from prison.

Mr. Westbrook was charged with multiple counts of child molestation. During voir dire, after being advised of the charges against Mr. Westbrook, Mr. Abbarno swore he could be fair and impartial to both sides. CP 269 (FOF 6). But Mr. Abbarno withheld he had publicly stated that he opposed the release of prisoners during the pandemic. He specifically questioned availability of release to inmates charged or convicted of child molestation. Mr. Abbarno made these statements – *in the presence of Mr. Meyer* - on the radio presumably to get his position on this issue in front of his constituents.

Despite his general statement during voir dire, Mr.

Abbarno's public statement before this trial was proof of "a

state of mind" on his part, directly in reference to the issue he would be presented with as a juror, which would substantially prejudice Mr. Westbrook. Had he revealed his prior statement on this issue, the trial court would have been compelled to excuse him for cause. But defense counsel had no basis to challenge him for cause, because Mr. Abbarno withheld all that and more from Mr. Westbrook and the court.

d. Even if the particular facts of this case do not neatly fit into the challenges defined in RCW 4.44.170, had the trial judge been presented with truthful information about the relationship between Mr. Abbarno and Mr. Meyer, she would have been compelled to excuse Mr. Abbarno.

The statute governs a party's challenge for cause on implied bias. But CrR 6.4(c)(1) permits the trial judge to excuse a juror, *sua sponte*, when the judge believes grounds for challenge are present. *State v. Boiko*, 138 Wn. App. 256, 265, 156 P.3d 934 (2007). *Boiko* held these criminal rules govern criminal procedure and supersede all procedural statutes in conflict with the rules. *Id.* (citing CrR 1.1). The Court pointed

out under RCW 2.36.110, the judge has a duty "to excuse from further jury service any juror, who in the opinion of the judge, has manifested unfitness as a juror by reason of bias, prejudice, indifference, inattention or any physical or mental defect or by reason of conduct or practices incompatible with proper and efficient jury service." *See State v. Stackhouse*, 90 Wn. App. 344, 352, 957 P.2d 218 (1998) (granting a motion for a new trial where two empaneled jurors knew about prior murder charges the defendant had faced).

This is an exceptional case. Mr. Abbarno and Mr. Meyer are licensed members of the Washington State Bar Association with knowledge of the purpose of voir dire and their duty of candor to the tribunal. Both had publicly acknowledged Mr. Meyer's political support for Mr. Abbarno's campaign. Yet given more than one opportunity to reveal the extent of their relationship, they did not do so. Both had publicly

¹ Mr. Westbrook has described the radio program above. But he urges this Court to listen to audio in Exhibit 3. The audio

acknowledged Mr. Meyer's political support for Mr. Abbarno's campaign. And during one show, Mr. Abbarno specifically commented negatively about the release of persons convicted of child molestation.

An objective observer of the facts would be compelled to conclude the relationship between Mr. Abbarno and Mr. Meyer made it impossible for Mr. Abbarno to be a fair and impartial juror. Even if the facts here do not fit neatly into Title RCW 4.44, had the full extent of the two men's relationship been revealed, the trial court would have had an independent duty to discharge Mr. Abbarno.

e. The opinion of the Court of Appeals calls for review by this Court.

Despite all that transpired, the Court of Appeals denied Mr. Westbrook the fair trial he was entitled to.

reveals an easy and warm relationship between two men who appear to share the same opinions about the criminal justice system.

22

In support of its conclusion the opinion of the Court of Appeals sets forth a portion of this Court's opinion in *State v*.

Lupastean, 200 Wn. 2d 26, 53, 513 P.3d 781 (2022). Opinion at 9. But Lupastean also said "a timely raised motion for a new trial must be granted where a juror intentionally fails to disclose information that would have provided a valid basis for a challenge for cause." 200 Wn. 2d at 53-54 (Internal citations omitted, emphasis added).

The personal and professional relationship between Mr. Meyer and Mr. Abbarno certainly would have provided a valid basis for a cause challenge. The two publicly endorsed each other's political viewpoints. The two described themselves as personal friends. The two shared season tickets to the Seattle Kraken. The two are both attorneys with a duty of candor to the court. And yet neither shared the fact or details of their relationship, during voir dire or even in response to the motion for a new trial. The nature of their relationship, "would have provided a valid basis for a challenge for cause." Accordingly,

the *Lupastean* opinion makes clear the trial court had to grant the motion for new trial.

Mr. Westbrook need not establish Mr. Abbarno "withheld information in response to questions asked of him during voir dire." *See* Opinion at 12. While *Lupastean* cites that as one example of "exceptional circumstances" requiring a new trial, *Lupastean* is clear it is just that, one example of exceptional circumstances not the full scope of such circumstances. 200 Wn. 2d at 54 ("... in exceptional cases the courts will draw a conclusive presumption of implied bias from the juror's factual circumstances, **including**...). Courts can and must expect more of licensed attorneys.

The trial court specifically called out the inaction of the Mr. Meyer.

I'm frankly frustrated with the State . . . that any of us are even put in this situation, because I think it was very easily avoided.

I will start off by saying I do not condone the conduct of the elected prosecutor in this case. And I can't deny that his actions may have ethical

consequences beyond this courtroom. But that's not for me to decide.

RP 809-810.

But the Court of Appeals minimizes Mr. Meyer role as Prosecuting Attorney, offering Mr. Meyer had "no direct involvement" in this case. Opinion at 13. The charges were filed in Mr. Meyer's name. CP 12, 22. His name appears on every brief in this case. It is Mr. Meyer's statutory duty to represent the State in criminal prosecutions. RCW 39.27.020. While Mr. Meyer may appoint deputies to assist him in carrying out his constitutional and statutory requirements "the prosecuting attorney **shall be responsible** for the acts of his or her deputies." RCW 39.27.040 (Emphasis added).

Whether he personally conducted the trial is neither here nor there. Mr. Meyer was directly involved in the case. To hold otherwise is to conclude he violated his statutory duty.

A "prosecutor owes a duty to defendants to see that their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated." *State v*.

Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). Mr. Meyer was aware his close friend was a juror on a case he was prosecuting, even if he was not aware of that fact at the time of jury selection. CP 275 (FOF 25.) Mr. Meyer said nothing.

The trial court was rightly concerned with Mr. Meyer's behavior. The Court of Appeals refusal to provide relief to the person harmed by the behavior of two members of the bar, one an elected prosecutor with an added constitutional duty, is contrary to this Court's opinions and raises a substantial constitutional question. The refusal to grant Mr. Westbrook a new and fair trial in light of the behavior of these two attorneys is a gross departure from the accepted course of judicial proceedings. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4.

2. The improper admission of evidence to show a "consciousness of guilt" warrants review by this Court.

A person's right to a fair trial is a fundamental part of due process of law. *United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739, 750, 107 S. Ct. 2095, 95 L. Ed. 2d 697 (1987); U.S. Const. amend.

XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. The inference that a person's behavior reflects their consciousness of guilt has tenuous probative value. *State v. Slater*, 197 Wn. 2d 660, 667-68, 486 P.3d 873 (2021). The Supreme Court "has warned for over a century that flight is not limited to those who are guilty, it also includes some who are innocent." *Slater*, 197 Wn. 2d at 667-68 (internal citations ommitted). It is a "fundamental truth" that innocent people often try to evade the authorities due to "fear or other emotion." *Id*.

Consciousness of guilt evidence such as flight "tends to be only marginally probative" yet is often markedly prejudicial. Slater, 197 Wn. 2d at 668 (quoting State v. Freeburg, 105 Wn. App. 492, 498, 501, 20 P.3d 984 (2001)). In Slater, the defendant missed court on the day of trial. Id. at 666. The prosecution contended his failure to come to court showed his consciousness of guilt. Id. This Court rejected this argument ruling missing a court date does not "rise to the level" of evidence from which jurors may infer consciousness of guilt on

"speculative." *Id.* at 673. "A trial court must not automatically allow this type of evidence" and must exclude such evidence when the consciousness of guilt inference rests on speculation. *Id.* at 674.

In *Freeburg*, the defendant fled after shooting someone and, when arrested later, had a gun with him. *Id.* at 497.

Although this gun was unrelated to the homicide, the prosecution claimed it showed his consciousness of guilt by arming himself to avoid arrest. *Id.* at 500. The Court rejected that contention finding the evidence had no substantial connection to the crime and made the defendant appear dangerous and violent. *Id.* at 501.

In *Slater* and *Freeburg*, court's set forth a test for admitting a person's conduct as consciousness of guilt evidence. The court must determine the party offering the evidence proves this inference is "substantial and real," and not "speculative, conjectural, or fanciful." *Slater*, 197 Wn. 2d at

668. The court must confidently find the required connection between the behavior and the inference by determining: (1) the behavior constituted flight, (2) this flight shows consciousness of guilt, (3) this consciousness of guilt concerns the crime charged; and (4) this consciousness of guilt shows actual guilt of the crime charged. *Id.* at 668-69 (quoting *Freeburg*, 105 Wn. App. at 498).

The trial court did not engage in this four-part inquiry.

That was error. The test is not Mr. Westbrook was not "where he was supposed to be."

Had the trial judge applied the correct test, she would have been compelled to conclude there was no evidence of flight. The evidence was simply that Mr. Westbrook was not at his reported address when an officer went to speak to him.

There was no evidence Mr. Westbrook knew the officer wanted to talk about an alleged crime or even that he had left Lewis County. Because there was no showing Mr. Westbrook knew of the allegations, no "consciousness" of guilt can be inferred.

And the fact he was later arrest in California, where he was raised and had family does not support he fled.

As in *Slater* and *Freeburg* the addition of highly "speculative, conjectural, or fanciful" evidence prejudiced Mr. Westbrook. The prosecutor argued in closing the jury could use this evidence to infer Mr. Westbrook was guilty.

When assessing the prejudice of an evidentiary error, the court must determine more than that the remaining evidence was sufficient to support a conviction. *State v. Gunderson*, 181 Wn.2d 916, 926, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014). But here, the Court of Appeals simply looked to the remaining evidence and surmised the error was harmless because the alleged victim "established sufficient facts to support" the convictions. Opinion at 15. That is a clear misapplication of this Court's precedent. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4.

F. Conclusion

This Court should accept review in this case.

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