FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/28/2024 10:40 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 103498-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 57160-9-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

BRIAN ALLEN WESTBROOK,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division Two, And the Superior Court of Lewis County

JONATHAN MEYER
Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 35564

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office Office ID 91182 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

B. ISSUES PRESENTED IN THIS ANSWER:

- 1. The petition claims the Court of Appeals' decision denying him a new trial based upon juror misconduct warrants review by this Court. Should review be denied as Westbrook only cursorily mentions RAP 13.4 but fails to provide a direct and concise statement to this Court why review should be accepted under one or more of the subsections of RAP 13.4(b)?
- 2. The petition claims the Court of Appeals' decision denying him a new trial based upon the use of consciousness of guilt evidence warrants review by this Court. Should review be denied as Westbrook only cursorily mentions RAP 13.4 but fails to provide a direct and concise statement to this Court why review should be accepted under one or more of the subsections of RAP 13.4(b)?

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Court of Appeals' decision provides an accurate statement of the facts. *Westbrook*, 57160-9-II, Slip Op. 2-8.

D. ARGUMENT.

The Court of Appeals applied the proper legal analysis when it determined that Westbrook had not met his burden to show juror 11 was actually or impliedly bias,

and therefore there the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied the motion for a new trial. Similarly, the Court of Appeals applied the correct legal standard when it determined that if there was an evidentiary error regarding the admission of consciousness of guilt, any error was harmless. The Court of Appeals followed the established precedent. Westbrook fails to cite or adequately discuss the enumerated considerations for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). This Court should deny review.

 Westbrook Fails To Identify Which Consideration Governing Acceptance Of Review He Is Asking This Court To Consider, And Further Fails To Present A Concise Statement Of The Reasons For Review In Light Of Considerations For Review Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

A person seeking review must choose from the four enumerated reasons for review found in RAP 13.4(b). This Court accepts review for the following reasons:

Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). A petition should contain, "A direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in section (b), with argument." RAP 13.4(c). Westbrook's petition fails to follow RAP 13.4.

Westbrook fails to specifically cite to one of the RAP 13.4(b) subsections or explain, beyond a conclusory statement how the Court of Appeals decision for either juror bias or consciousness of guilt falls into any of these

grounds. Rather, Westbrook cursorily cites to RAP 13.4 three times in his petition. Petition at 13, 26, 30.

First, Westbrook mentions RAP 13.4 at the beginning of his first argument regarding juror bias. Westbrook argued the juror and the elected prosecutor were untruthful, and the Court of Appeals "endorsed this deceit" by denying Westbrook a new and fair trial. Petition 12-13. Westbrook then states, "The court's conclusion demands review under RAP 13.4."

Then, at the end of the first argument, Westbrook states that he was harmed by two attorneys, one with a constitutional duty, and the Court of Appeals' failure to provide Westbrook relief is contrary to State Supreme Court opinions and raises a substantial constitutional question. Petition 26. Yet, Westbrooks' argument only cites specific constitutional provision four times and does not provide any meaningful analysis how they apply to RAP 13.4(b)(3) as he does not even cite to that specific

provision. Petition 14, 26-27. Westbrook does mention the prosecutor's constitutional requirements, but again, does not apply them to RAP 13.4(b)(3). Petition 25-26.

Additionally, in the first argument section, Westbrook does discuss the Court of Appeals' application of *State v. Luapstean*, 200 Wn.2d 26, 53, 513 P.3d 781 (2022). Petition 23-24. Again, there is no reference to RAP 13.4, but one could surmise Westbrook is attempting to argue RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with *Luapstean*, Westbrook simply does not agree with the trial court, or the Court of Appeals' review of the facts of ultimate determination that juror 11 did not intentionally fail to disclose information that "would have been a valid basis for a challenge for cause." *Luapstean*, 200 Wn.2d at 53-54; *Westbrook*, Slip. Op. 8-12.

The next citation to RAP 13.4 is in the second section of Westbrook's argument, regarding consciousness of guilt. Petition 30. Westbrook concludes his argument by

stating, "Review is warranted under RAP 13.4" Id. Proceeding this statement is Westbrook's evaluation that the Court of Appeals misapplied State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916, 926, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014). Id. Westbrook states, "the Court of Appeals simply looked at the remaining evidence and surmised the error was harmless because the alleged victim 'established sufficient facts to support the conviction." Id. (citing Westbrook, Slip Op. at 15). Westbrook picks one line out of the Court of Appeals' evaluation listing the evidence that the trial court's evidentiary error was harmless. Westbrook, Slip Op. 15. The Court of Appeals cited to "overwhelming evidence," one piece of that evidence was the brother's testimony regarding the assault charge. Id. The remaining evidence discussed included testimony from ALA, testimony from ALA's mother, and Westbrook's DNA on ALA's sheets. Id.

Westbrook's statements fail to explain which criteria for review Westbrook is asserting. Westbrook's argument

meets none of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) and this Court should decline to accept review.

2. The record does not support some of Westbrook's factual assertions.

Westbrook makes a couple factual assertions in his petition that are not supported by the record. The State acknowledges that mistakes are made, but these factual assertions are argued in support of the petition. Further, one of the assertions was made in the proceedings below and was noted by the trial court during the RAP 9.11 hearing, and the State in its response briefing.

Westbrook states, "[juror 11] was aware the trial judge inquired about his relationship with [the elected prosecutor] when the issue of hockey tickets arose." Petition at 9. The trial judge did not inquire about the relationship, a point she made clear in the RAP 9.11

hearing. RP (11/21/22) 36-37.¹ The trial judge stated she disclosed information she was given and left it to the parties to do what they liked with it. Id.

Next, Westbrook correctly states in the statement of the case that juror 11 and the elected prosecutor were discussing the release of non-violent inmates, including child molesters, during the pandemic. Petition at 8. Yet later, he states, "But [juror 11] withheld he had publicly stated that he opposed the release of prisoners during the pandemic. He specifically questioned the availability of release of inmates charged or convicted of child molestation." Petition at 19 (emphasis added). Nowhere in the record does it support that juror 11 questioned the release of someone charged with child molestation. The Court of Appeals' opinion even draws attention to that fact. Westbrook, Slip Op. at 10. Later in the petition, Westbrook,

¹ The State included this in its response brief for the Court of Appeals because the same factual assertion by Westbrook was made on page 6 of his opening brief.

again correctly, states that juror 11 was speaking of people convicted of child molestation. Petition at 22. The distinction matters.

E. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review of Westbrook's petition.

This document contains 1,455 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the words count by RAP 18.17.